
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD 
7275 West Main Street 
Kalamazoo, MI 49009 

March 12, 2024 

Refer to page 3 for Virtual Meeting Information 

REGULAR MEETING 
5:30 P.M. 
AGENDA 

1. Call to Order

2. Remote Location Identification (for remote attendance when permitted by statute)

3. Pledge of Allegiance

4. Township Mission/Vision/Core Values

Core Value: Public Service: Allow residents to interact directly with the township 
staff and officials. 

5. Public Comment on Non-Regular Session Items

6. Public Officials Updates

7. Consent Agenda

a. Minutes of Regular Meeting February 20, 2024 (Minutes Regular Board Meeting 

February 20, 2024)

b. Budget Amendment Memos

i. Whitegate/W Mich/11th St Sidewalk Construction
ii. 9th Street Sidewalk Design
iii. Parkview Ave Non-motorized and Sanitary Construction
iv. Fruitbelt Trail Resurvey
v. Parks Kalamazoo Nature Center Services
vi. I.T. Meeting Room
vii. I.T. Ricoh Scanner/Printer

c. Receipts and Disbursements (Receipts and Disbursements February 2024)

8. Update and Changes to 2024 Trash Days

9. Presentation and Second Reading: Mixed Use District Ordinance

10. Consideration Planning Director

11. Public Comment

12. Board Member Comments & Committee Updates

13. Other Updates & Business

14. Adjournment

1

https://www.oshtemo.org/files/assets/public/v/1/boards-and-committees/township-board/minutes/02202024-meeting-minutes.pdf
https://www.oshtemo.org/files/assets/public/v/1/boards-and-committees/township-board/minutes/02202024-meeting-minutes.pdf
https://www.oshtemo.org/files/assets/public/v/1/boards-and-committees/township-board/documents/03122024-rd-report.pdf


Oshtemo Township Board of Trustees 

Supervisor 

Cheri Bell 
Clerk 

Dusty Farmer 

Treasurer 

Clare Buszka 

Trustees 

Kristin Cole 

Zak Ford 

Michael Chapman

216-5220 cbell@oshtemo.org

216-5224 dfarmer@oshtemo.org 

216-5260 cbuszka@oshtemo.org 

760-6769
375-4260

271-5513

Township Department Information 

Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 

Fire Chief: 

Greg McComb 

Ordinance Enforcement: 

Rick Suwarsky 

Parks Director: 

Vanessa Street
Rental Info 

Planning Director: 

Vacant
Public Works Director: 

Anna Horner 

216-5225 assessor@oshtemo.org 

375-0487 gmccomb@oshtemo.org 

216-5227 rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org 

216-5233 
216-5224 

vstreet@oshtemo.org 
oshtemo@oshtemo.org 

planning@oshtemo.org

216-5228 ahorner@oshtemo.org 

Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting: 

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for

dialogue and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may

be delegated to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated

questions can be answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email

(oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited. At the close of
public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include questions
are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further research,
and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board deliberation
which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual 
capabilities of the meeting room. Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required. 

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on 
which the public hearing is being conducted. Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be 
directed to any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting. 

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to the orderly 
conduct of business. The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which 
does not follow these guidelines. 

(adopted 5/9/2000) 
(revised 5/14/2013) 
(revised 1/8/2018) 

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone calls, 
stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from Monday- 
Thursday, 8 a.m.-1 p.m. and 2-5 p.m., and on Friday, 8 a.m.–1 p.m. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person. 

Neil Sikora nsikora@oshtemo.org

kcole@oshtemo.org 

zford@oshtemo.org 

375-4260 mchapman@oshtemo.org

375-4260

22

mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbuszka@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbell@oshtemo.org
mailto:kcole@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:kbradford@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:gmccomb@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:ilubbert@oshtemo.org
mailto:ahorner@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org


Zoom Instructions for Participants 

Before a videoconference: 

1. You will need a computer, tablet, or smartphone with a speaker or headphones. You will have
the opportunity to check your audio immediately upon joining a meeting.

2. If you are going to make a public comment, please use a microphone or headphones with a
microphone to cut down on feedback, if possible.

3. Details, phone numbers, and links to videoconference or conference call are provided below.
The details include a link to “Join via computer” as well as phone numbers for a conference call
option. It will also include the 11-digit Meeting ID.

To join the videoconference: 

1. At the start time of the meeting, click on this link to join via computer. You may be instructed
to download the Zoom application.

2. You have an opportunity to test your audio at this point by clicking on “Test Computer Audio.”
Once you are satisfied that your audio works, click on “Join audio by computer.”

You may also join a meeting without the link by going to join.zoom.us on any browser and entering this 
Meeting ID: 836 7398 7592

If you are having trouble hearing the meeting or do not have the ability to join using a computer, tablet, or 
smartphone then you can join via conference call by following instructions below. 

To join the conference by phone: 
1. On your phone, dial the teleconferencing number: 1-929-205-6099
2. When prompted using your touchtone (DTMF) keypad, enter the Meeting ID

number: 836 7398 7592#

Participant controls in the lower-left corner of the Zoom screen: 

Using the icons at the bottom of the Zoom screen, you can (some features will be locked to participants during 
the meeting): 

• Participants – opens a pop-out screen that includes a “Raise Hand” icon that you may use to
raise a virtual hand. This will be used to indicate that you want to make a public comment.

• Chat – opens pop-up screen that allows participants to post comments during the
meeting.

If you are attending the meeting by phone, to use the “Raise Hand” feature press *9 on your 
touchtone keypad. 

Public comments will be handled by the “Raise Hand” method as instructed above within Participant Controls. 

Closed Caption: 

 Turn on Closed Caption: 
Using the icons at the bottom of the Zoom screen: 

1. Click on the “Live Transcription” button.
2. Then select “Show Subtitle”.

33

https://join.zoom.us/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83673987592


Mission: 

To advance the quality of life of all residents through a commitment to responsible growth, and 

value-driven municipal services that promote the relationships among economic vitality, 

environmental stewardship, and social equity. 

Vision:

A sustainable and innovative community built through a legacy of planned, responsible growth 

and rural preservation. 

Core Values:

PUBLIC SERVICE 

• Fair treatment to all people.

• Each customer is welcomed and that their input is wanted.

• Difficult questions are not marginalized.

• Allow residents to interact directly with the township staff and officials.

• Decisions are made based on the value to our Township and residents.

SUSTAINABILITY 

• Meet the needs of the present without compromising future generations.

o Consider the environment through practices that reduce impacts.

o Value conscious decision making.

o Committing to quality Fire and Police protection.

INNOVATION 

• Providing the best value-conscious technology currently available.

• Leverage new technologies and ways of doing business to increase accessibility and

improve services. 

PROFESSIONALISM 

• Hire staff with strong core competencies within their given profession.

• Commitment to continuous improvement to government operations.

• Dedicated to open communication to improve productivity and effectiveness.

INTEGRITY 

• Decisions are made logically through the collection of evidence, facts, and public input.

• When promises are made, we follow through.

• We do not obfuscate – we say what we mean and do what we say.

• Transparent governmental practices are of the highest priority.

FISCAL STEWARDSHIP 

• Ensure that taxpayer investments are spent wisely, effectively and efficiently.

44



7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 
 

 

Memorandum & Request 
Date: March 12th, 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Zach Pearson - Public Works Project Manager 
 

  Subject:         Whitegate Ln, 11th St., and W. Michigan Ave sidewalk project 
   

 
 
Objective 
To approve a budget amendment of $256,000 for the Construction engineering and administration, 
permitting, and construction costs for the Whitegate Ln, 11th St., and W. Michigan Ave sidewalk 
project and authorize the Supervisor to accept the Wightman proposal for construction engineering 
services.  

 
From: GL 101-000-40000   Carryover – General Fund 
To:   GL 101-441-97600.WHTGNM   Whitegate NM Connector 
 

Proposed Motion: I move to approve the budget amendment of $256,000.00 for construction 
costs for the Whitegate Ln, 11th St., and W. Michigan Ave sidewalk extension. 
 
Background 
In 2023 the Township Board approved a proposal from Wightman to complete the survey, design, 
and right-of-way acquisition for three local sidewalk projects, including sidewalk from S. 11th St to 
W. Michigan Ave to Whitegate Ln. Wightman is in the final design stages for the project and has 
prepared an estimate for construction of $221,145. In addition to the sidewalk construction there 
are costs for tree removal estimated to be $7,500 and $250 for permitting with the Road 
Commission of Kalamazoo County. Public Works has requested limited construction engineering 
services from Wightman in the form of materials testing, construction staking, and post construction 
surveying. Wightman’s proposal for the requested services is $16,000. Including a 5% contingency 
on the construction estimate, the total project cost is estimated to be approximately $256,000.  
 
This project was planned for 2023 design and construction and funds were unspent in 2023. All 
design work was completed on schedule. There were delays with utility relocations and permitting 
requirements and it was in the best interest of public funds to wait until the following year for more 
favorable pricing and bidding climate. The project is anticipated to go out for bid in Q2 of 2024, with 
a final completion of November 2024.  
 
Information Provided 
Wightman Engineer’s Opinion of Costs 
Wightman Proposal for Construction Engineering Services 
 

55



Engineer's Opinion of Costs
Project Number: 234018 - Project C Project Engineer: PAD

Estimate Number: 2: Project C 80% Date Created: 7/2/2023

Date Edited: 1/18/2024Project Type:
Miscellaneous

Fed/State #:Location: Oshtemo Township

Fed Item:11th St/Michigan Ave/Whitegate Ln Sidewalk

Control Section:Description: Construction of approx. 1500' of 6' concrete sidewalk along
the west side of 11th St - Stadium Dr to Michigan Ave;
north side of Michigan Ave - 11th St to Whitegate Ln; west
side of Whitegate Ln - Michigan Ave to Powderhorn Dr.

Line Pay Item Description Quantity Units Unit Price Total

Mobilization, Max $19,000.000001 1100001 1.000 LSUM $19,000.00

Curb and Gutter, Rem $900.000002 2040020 90.000 Ft $10.00

Masonry and Conc Structure, Rem $400.000003 2040045 5.000 Cyd $80.00

Pavt, Rem $55.000004 2040050 5.000 Syd $11.00

Sidewalk, Rem $600.000005 2040055 40.000 Syd $15.00

Subgrade Undercutting, Type II $875.000006 2050041 25.000 Cyd $35.00

_ Sidewalk, Grading $37,000.000007 2057001 1,480.000 Ft $25.00

Erosion Control, Inlet Protection, Fabric Drop $1,500.000008 2080020 12.000 Ea $125.00

Erosion Control, Silt Fence $250.000009 2080036 100.000 Ft $2.50

Subbase, CIP $3,850.000010 3010002 110.000 Cyd $35.00

Aggregate Base, 6 inch $2,475.000011 3020016 165.000 Syd $15.00

_ Leaching Basin, 48 inch dia $12,000.000012 4037050 2.000 Ea $6,000.00

HMA Surface, Rem $1,250.000013 5010005 250.000 Syd $5.00

Hand Patching $2,250.000014 5010025 15.000 Ton $150.00

Contract # 234018 (Oshtemo Township Sidewalk at 3 project locations) Page 1 of 3
MERL: 2023.5.0

1/18/2024 1:59:41 PM

66



Line Pay Item Description Quantity Units Unit Price Total

HMA Approach $5,250.000015 5010061 35.000 Ton $150.00

Conc Base Cse, Nonreinf, 6 inch $2,500.000016 6020015 50.000 Syd $50.00

Curb, Conc, Det E2 $6,000.000017 8020002 250.000 Ft $24.00

Curb and Gutter, Conc, Det B2 $1,050.000018 8020016 35.000 Ft $30.00

Curb and Gutter, Conc, Det C4 $3,780.000019 8020023 135.000 Ft $28.00

Curb Ramp Opening, Conc $3,300.000020 8030030 110.000 Ft $30.00

Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch $48,300.000021 8030044 6,900.000 Sft $7.00

Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch $4,750.000022 8030046 475.000 Sft $10.00

Curb Ramp, Conc, 6 inch $8,760.000023 8032002 730.000 Sft $12.00

_ Detectable Warning Surface, Modified $3,000.000024 8037001 60.000 Ft $50.00

Post, Steel, 3 pound $720.000025 8100371 90.000 Ft $8.00

Sign, Type III, Erect, Salv $300.000026 8100402 10.000 Ea $30.00

Sign, Type III, Rem $300.000027 8100403 10.000 Ea $30.00

_ Pavt Mrkg, Waterborne, 12 inch, Crosswalk $420.000028 8117001 120.000 Ft $3.50

Pedestrian Type II Barricade, Temp $450.000029 8120026 3.000 Ea $150.00

Channelizing Device, 42 inch, Fluorescent,
Furn

$1,800.000030 8120035 150.000 Ea $12.00

Channelizing Device, 42 inch, Fluorescent,
Oper

$150.000031 8120036 150.000 Ea $1.00

Lighted Arrow, Type C, Furn $1,000.000032 8120140 2.000 Ea $500.00

Lighted Arrow, Type C, Oper $200.000033 8120141 2.000 Ea $100.00

Contract # 234018 (Oshtemo Township Sidewalk at 3 project locations) Page 2 of 3
MERL: 2023.5.0

1/18/2024 1:59:42 PM

77



Line Pay Item Description Quantity Units Unit Price Total

Minor Traf Devices $15,000.000034 8120170 1.000 LSUM $15,000.00

Pavt Mrkg, Longit, Greater than 6 inch Width,
Rem

$360.000035 8120211 120.000 Ft $3.00

Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Furn $2,400.000036 8120350 600.000 Sft $4.00

Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Oper $600.000037 8120351 600.000 Sft $1.00

Traf Regulator Control $15,000.000038 8120370 1.000 LSUM $15,000.00

Slope Restoration, Non-Freeway, Type B $12,950.000039 8162002 1,850.000 Syd $7.00

Gate Box, Adj, Case 1 $400.000040 8230431 1.000 Ea $400.00

Estimate Total:  $221,145.00

Contract # 234018 (Oshtemo Township Sidewalk at 3 project locations) Page 3 of 3
MERL: 2023.5.0

1/18/2024 1:59:42 PM

88



 

Serving the Great Lakes Region with offices in Michigan and Indiana 
gowightman.com 

March 8, 2024 

Oshtemo Charter Township 
7275 W. Main Street 
Kalamazoo, MI 49009  

Attention: Zach Pearson, Public Works Project Manager 

RE: OSHTEMO TOWNSHIP LOCAL SIDEWALK PROJECTS – CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING 
SERVICES 

Dear Zach: 

Wightman is pleased to submit our qualifications for Construction Engineering Services for Oshtemo Charter 
Township’s 11th Street, Michigan Avenue and Whitegate Lane Local Sidewalk Project. We understand how 
important it is to maintain the integrity of Oshtemo’s rural character as the Township continues working to 
modernize and add avenues of non-motorized transportation.   

As Oshtemo continues to grow and evolve, providing safe, reliable, and easily accessible transportation routes 
for non-motorized traffic becomes more and more important. We recognize the delicate balance between 
modernization and retaining the historic agricultural charm offered by the Township.  

Wightman is a full-service consulting firm that exists to serve people and the communities we live in. Our 
dynamic team of over 200+ professionals works to analyze, advise, design, and deliver successful projects in 
partnership with governments, businesses, and institutions in our communities. Becoming trusted advisors and 
true partners guides our actions. 

Section I – Project Goals 

Based on communications with Oshtemo Charter Township, Wightman understands the goals for this project 
are as follows: 

• Connect residential areas around Whitegate Lane to existing sidewalk infrastructure on S 11th Street. 
• Provide pedestrian traffic from residential developments along the proposed route a safe an traversable 

sidewalk connected to Stadium Drive.  

Section II – Scope of Services 

The following is a summary of tasks and required scope of services: 
   

1) Construction Engineering 
• Wightman will schedule and attend a preconstruction meeting, with the Wightman Project Engineer 

and Site Representative in attendance.  
• Wightman will provide construction staking services for the proposed improvements.   
• Our Site Representative will mark trees for removal prior to the beginning of the project.  
• Our Site Representative will provide materials testing services as required including concrete QC 

testing, making and curing concrete test specimens (cylinders) and density testing of sand subbase.  
A certified technician will test concrete specimens to ensure they meet minimum strength 
requirements. 
 

99



Zach Pearson, Public Works Project Manager 
3/8/2024 
Page 2                    

Serving the Great Lakes Region with offices in Michigan and Indiana 
gowightman.com 

• We will complete a post-construction topographic survey of the completed improvements and use 
this survey to complete As-Recorded drawings for the project as part of our services.  Wightman will 
provide the Township with electronic and hard copies of the As-Recorded drawings.  We will also 
provide the Township with an AutoCAD file of the completed improvements.  

• Upon completion of construction and final acceptance by all parties, we will maintain the project files 
for a three-year period or provide them to the Township to maintain. 

Section III - Fees 

We propose to complete the above Scope of Services for an Estimated Fee of $16,000.  We will proceed on 
an hourly basis according to our Standard Billing Rates and Reimbursable Expenses. 

Section IV – Terms and Conditions 

Our standard terms and conditions are attached.   

We are extremely excited by the opportunity to partner with you on this project. If our proposal is acceptable to 
you, please sign below to authorize us to begin work and return a copy to our office. 

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 

Very truly yours

 
          
Philip A. Doorlag, P.E.,  
Regional Director - Kalamazoo 
pdoorlag@gowightman.com 
(269) 264-4089

Cc: Anna Horner, P.E., Public Works Director 

This proposal is approved and accepted by: 

By:   Date:   
Signature 

By:   Title:    
Printed Name 

    
Client/Company Name and Address (Billing) 

1010



7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 
 

 

Memorandum 
Date: March 7, 2024,  

To: Township Board 

From: Anna Horner, P.E., Public Works Director 

Subject: 9th St. Sidewalk Design and Permitting Budget Amendment   

 
Objective 
   Consideration of budget amendment for 9th Street sidewalk project. 
 

From: GL 101-000-40000   Carryover – General Fund 
To:   GL 101-441-97600.NMS9TH   Non-Motorized S 9th St Stadium to Quail Run  
 
 

Proposed Motion: I move to approve the budget amendment of $101,707 for the 9th Street sidewalk 
project.  
 
Background 
In 2021 the Township was awarded a Transportation Alternative Program (TAP) grant for the completion of 
sidewalk on the west side of 9th Street from Stadium Drive to Quail Run Drive.  The award came from the 
Kalamazoo Area Transportation Study (KATS) for fiscal year 2024 in the amount of $543,000. Following MDOT’s 
Project Planning Guide, staff solicited requests for proposals from engineering consulting firms in 2023 and 
began the design and bidding process.  
 
As the Board was made aware at the February 6, 2024 meeting, the selected engineering consultant, Wightman 
& Associates was able to advocate for design deviations from the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County 
(RCKC) construction guidelines and optimize the path design, however that has caused schedule impacts 
and additional design work to satisfy the RCKC staff.  Wightman has provided detailed time entries for work 
beyond what was identified in the proposal as it is not included in the RCKC construction guidelines mostly 
for drainage design and calculation, equating to approximately $22,000 to date with another $5,000 to 
$10,000 estimated.  
 
In past correspondence, RCKC’s non-motorized Project Manager (PM) has informed Public Works staff 
they do not have set/required timeframes for responses related to non-motorized projects. The RCKC PM 
also indicated to the Township’s PM, Wightman, that we should expect delayed responses on this project 
since RCKC is focused on upcoming road construction projects. Without at least an estimated response 
timeline, we cannot anticipate when the design will be completed, and when we will be able to receive the 
permit from RCKC.  
 
The proposed budget amendment breakdown is as follows: 
 $22,000  Additional cost to date for sidewalk design work 
 $10,000  Estimated additional design to obtain RCKC permit (billed Time & Materials basis)  
 $64,707  Unspent 2023 contract funds (returned to Carryover) 
 $5,000  Estimated RCKC billed time to Oshtemo for permit review  
 
 
 
After reviewing this matter with Wightman and coordinating with County Engineer on RCKC’s 9th St 

1111

https://www.oshtemo.org/files/assets/public/v/1/boards-and-committees/township-board/agenda-packets/2024-2-20-tb-agenda-packet_1.pdf


7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 
 

repaving project, I do not expect this project to be constructed this year as was anticipated and approved 
in the 2024 budget. Now, our next best option is to bid in fall and complete construction as soon as 
possible in 2025.  
 
This work is fiscally responsible because of the savings in easement acquisition costs that were 
recognized by advocating for industry best practices and acceptable federal and state design guidelines 
that are not in the RCKC construction guidelines, and the effort provided the best product for the reduced 
residents’ impacts, the community infrastructure and continuing to improve the overall safety for residents.  
 
Information Provided: 
 Proposed Schedule per RFQ/Proposal 
 Additional Unanticipated Spending  
 
 

1212



WIGHTMAN | 23

PROPOSED PROJECT SCHEDULES

ID Task 
Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish Predecessors Resource Names

1 Township Awards 
Project

1 day Tue 3/14/23 Tue 3/14/23

2 Notice to Proceed 1 day Fri 3/17/23 Fri 3/17/23 1

3 Preliminary Design 
Submittal (30%)

3 wks Mon 
3/20/23

Fri 4/7/23 2

4 Progress Meeting 
with Township

2 wks Mon 
4/10/23

Fri 4/21/23 3

5 Design Development
Submittal (50%)

3 wks Mon 
4/24/23

Fri 5/12/23 4

6 Progress Meeting 
with Township

2 wks Mon 
5/15/23

Fri 5/26/23 5

7 Submit Grade 
Inspection Package

11 days Mon 
5/29/23

Mon 
6/12/23

6

8 Grade Inspection 
Meeting

1 day Wed 
7/12/23

Wed 
7/12/23

7

9 Draft Final 
Submission Package

2 wks Thu 7/13/23 Wed 
7/26/23

8

10 RCKC Project and 
Permit Applications 
Approved

1 day Fri 8/11/23 Fri 8/11/23

11 Complete ROW 
Acquisition

54 days Mon 
5/29/23

Thu 8/10/23 6

12 Submit Final ROW 
Certification to 
MDOT

1 day Fri 8/11/23 Fri 8/11/23 11

13 Final Submission 
Package to Township

2 wks Fri 8/11/23 Thu 8/24/23 9,11

14 Final Submission 
Package to MDOT

1 day? Fri 8/25/23 Fri 8/25/23 13

15 MDOT Bid Opening 10 wks Mon 8/28/23Fri 11/3/23 14

W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M
Feb 12, '23 Feb 19, '23 Feb 26, '23 Mar 5, '23 Mar 12, '23 Mar 19, '23 Mar 26, '23 Apr 2, '23 Apr 9, '23 Apr 16, '23 Apr 23, '23 Apr 30, '23 May 7, '23 May 14, '23 May 21, '23 May 28, '23 Jun 4, '23 Jun 11, '23 Jun 18, '23 Jun 25, '23 Jul 2, '23 Jul 9, '23 Jul 16, '23 Jul 23, '23 Jul 30, '23 Aug 6, '23 Aug 13, '23 Aug 20, '23 Aug 27, '23 Sep 3, '23 Sep 10, '23 Sep 17, '23 Sep 24, '23 Oct 1, '23 Oct 8, '23 Oct 15, '23 Oct 22, '23 Oct 29, '23 Nov 5, '23

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

External Tasks

External Milestone

Deadline

Progress

Manual Progress

Page 1

Project: Project A CPM Schedul
Date: Thu 2/16/23

The following is our implementation schedule for the scopes identified herein assuming we are authorized to 
proceed following the Oshtemo Township Board meeting scheduled for March 14, 2023.  The schedule may 
need to be adjusted pending the actual date of the project award and ROW Acquisition. Please note where 
indicated: *Dates are estimated as they are largely out of our control.  
We propose the following schedule for Project A:

Event Approximate Date
*Township Awards Project 03/14/23
*Notice to Proceed 03/17/23
Preliminary Design Submittal (30%) 04/07/23
Progress Meeting with Township 04/17/23 – 04/21/23
Design Development Submittal (50%) 05/12/23
Progress Meeting with Township 05/22/23 – 05/26/23
Submit Grade Inspection Package, plans forwarded to utilities 06/12/23
*Grade Inspection Meeting 07/12/23
Draft Final Submission Package (95%) 07/26/23
*RCKC Project and Permit Applications Approved 08/11/23
*Complete ROW Acquisition 08/10/23
Submit Final ROW Certification to MDOT 08/11/23
Final Submission Package to Township 08/18/23
Final Submission Package to MDOT 08/25/23
MDOT Bid Opening 11/03/23
Construct Project 04/24 – 07/24

80% plans to Twp 7/2/23
RCKC permit 
     submit 9/7/23
RCKC mtg 10/9/23
GI mtg 10/26/23

1313



Additional Unanticipated Spend since GI on 10/26

Licensed 1 - Anna

10/27/2023 2.50 125.00 312.50

10/30/2023 3.50 125.00 437.50

11/2/2023 0.50 125.00 62.50

11/6/2023 3.00 125.00 375.00

11/7/2023 7.50 125.00 937.50

11/8/2023 3.25 125.00 406.25

11/9/2023 0.50 125.00 62.50

11/10/2023 6.25 125.00 781.25

11/13/2023 7.00 125.00 875.00

11/14/2023 7.50 125.00 937.50

11/15/2023 7.25 125.00 906.25

11/16/2023 6.75 125.00 843.75

11/17/2023 7.50 125.00 937.50

11/20/2023 6.75 125.00 843.75

11/21/2023 5.00 125.00 625.00

11/22/2023 6.75 125.00 843.75

11/27/2023 3.00 125.00 375.00

11/30/2023 6.00 125.00 750.00

12/1/2023 6.75 125.00 843.75

1/10/2024 2.25 125.00 281.25

1/12/2024 3.50 125.00 437.50

1/15/2024 6.75 125.00 843.75

1/16/2024 3.50 125.00 437.50

1/17/2024 7.50 125.00 937.50

1/18/2024 3.25 125.00 406.25

1/19/2024 3.50 125.00 437.50

1/22/2024 5.00 125.00 625.00

1/23/2024 7.00 125.00 875.00

1/24/2024 7.25 125.00 906.25

1/25/2024 3.50 125.00 437.50

1/26/2024 3.50 125.00 437.50

2/7/2024 0.25 125.00 31.25

2/14/2024 3.00 125.00 375.00

work on calculations for drainage

get with Derek and Aaron on how doing drainage calcs and to get 

input. Send to RCKC what we're preliminarily looking at

corresponding with RCKC, talking with Phil about what's in the 

PROWAG and how it applies to our projects

meet with RCKC to understand what they need with drainage 

calcs, work on adjusting sidewalk location/grading

work on adjusting sidewalk location/grading

work on adjusting sidewalk location/grading

work on adjusting sidewalk location/grading

work on adjusting sidewalk location/grading

work on adjusting sidewalk location/grading and ditch grades

work on adjusting sidewalk location/grading and ditch grades

work on adjusting sidewalk location/grading and ditch grades

work on updating ditch grades to match into sidewalk grades

work on surface that matches top of ditch height for volumes

work on getting the surface of proposed ditches full

making the volume surfaces, make sure they're computing 

correctly by trimming undefined surface areas

work on looking into infiltration rates, make sure using correct 

storm size and duration, and analyzing total volume needed

finish getting info for infiltration added to the spreadsheet and 

formatting the spreadsheet and checking areas/calcuations

double check volumes from surface using cross sections and 

average end area, get with Phil on how to display drainage 

calculations, start updating base drawings for path realignmentwork on updating the base drawings for change in path layout

meeting with RCKC to discuss project coordination, especially 

around drainage calcs, talk with Phil on potential solutions for this. 

Work on updating spreadsheet from discussion

editing areas for drainage calcs to match the new path layout, 

work on updating drainage calcs

work on updating drainage calcs

work on making updates to the drainage calculations

Meet with the township to go over meeting with RCKC, work on 

making updates to the drainage calcs and setting heights for the 

control structures

work on designing the control strucutres for storage, finanlizing 

design calcs

designing control structures for storage, make updates to the 

plans

work on wrapping up storage calcs and getting a set out for 

review

work on updating plans and design calcs to add infiltration to the 

storage calcs, determining what we can use as a control structure 

when there isn't room for a drainage structure

work on updating plans and design calcs to add infiltration to the 

storage calcs

work on updating plans and design calcs to add infiltration to the 

storage calcs

Make updates to the calcs and plans based on discussion with 

Phil, send over updated info the the township

meet with Phil to look at remaining work for 2024 on project

meet with RCKC, get together new design calcs and 

supplemental info to send over for review

1414



Licensed 5 - Phil

11/2/2023 1.00 190.00 190.00

11/6/2023 1.50 190.00 285.00

11/22/2023 0.50 190.00 95.00

11/30/2023 1.00 190.00 190.00

12/14/2023 0.50 190.00 95.00

1/10/2024 2.00 190.00 380.00

1/11/2024 0.50 190.00 95.00

1/22/2024 1.00 190.00 190.00

1/23/2024 1.75 190.00 332.50

2/14/2024 1.25 190.00 237.50

Total 21715

Review w/ Anna V

Mtg w/ RCKC, follow up w/ Anna V

project check in w/ AnnaV

Review w/ Anna V

Coordinate mtgs w/ RCKC

Coordination mtg w/ RCKC, follow up w/ Anna V

Follow up w/ RCKC, re: stormwater

Review design changes

Review design w/ Anna V.

Mtg w/ RCKC re: drainage calcs and ditch design

1515



 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

 

 

Memorandum & Request 

Date: March 7, 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Anna Horner, P.E., Public Works Director 

Subject: Parkview Avenue 2023 Non-Motorized and Sewer – Budget Amendment 

 
Objective 
   Consideration of budget amendment for Parkview Ave project. 
 

From: GL 101-000-40000   Carryover – General Fund 
To:   GL 101-441-97600.NMPRKV   Parkview Vienna to 131 Bridge ($39,013.45) 
 
From: GL 485-000-40000   Carryover – Sewer Fund 
To:   GL 485-536-96400.SANPRK   Sanitary Sewer Parkview ($62,996.79) 
 
 

Proposed Motion: I move to approve the budget amendment of $102,010.24 for balance of Parkview 
Avenue project costs.   
 

Background 
In February of 2022 the Board approved a “Construction & Reimbursement Agreement” with the Road 
Commission of Kalamazoo County (RCKC) for the shared use path and sanitary sewer on the north side of 
Parkview Ave from Vienna St to the west side of the bridge over US-131 in coordination with their road safety 
project for two roundabouts. The costs included in that agreement were construction, design engineering, 
right of way (ROW) services, construction engineering and RCKC overhead (OH). As outlined in said 
agreement, Oshtemo is required to pay a 90% advanced deposit. 
 
Construction started in Spring of 2023 and was completed in August of 2023. The Township requested billing 
summaries in August to estimate end of year expendures for 2023 and budget for 2024. We received billing 
summaries through end of July 2023 for expendures the RCKC incurred against the advanced deposits 
previously made and reconciled these with anticipated final quanities from the consultant, HRC. No other 
billing summaries or invoices were received until January 16, 2024 when the RCKC Accountant submitted 
invoices 1074 and 1075 for costs through 12/31/2023. This included invoice 1074 for $39,013.45 for non-
motorized related costs and invoice 1075 for $62,996.79 for sewer related costs.   

 
Sewer 2023 Amended Budget 485-536.96400.SANPRK $465,000 
485-536.96400.SANPRK End of Year Balance (returned to carryover) $46,347.64 

Balance due invoice 1075 $62,996.79 (difference over returned carryover $16,649.15)  
Estimate Total Project Cost (Invoice 1015 3/31/23) $465,169 
Actual Total Project Cost $479,206  

 

Non-motorized 2023 Amended Budget 101-441-97600.NMPRKV $400,000 

101-441-97600.NMPRKV End of Year Balance (returned to carryover) $16,314.15 
Balance due invoice 1074 $39,013.45 (difference over returned carryover $22,699.30)  

Estimate Total Project Cost (Invoice 1014 3/31/23) $419,508 
Actual Total Project Cost (Invoice 1074 12/31/23) $413,567 

1616

https://www.oshtemo.org/files/assets/public/v/1/boards-and-committees/township-board/agenda-packets/2022-2-8-tb-packet.pdf


 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

 

Unfortunately, this is as timely as Public Works staff could get these amendments to the Board after receiving 
them from RCKC and was not privy nor provided contract modifications throughout the project so there has 
been extra time spent to try and look back and determine what was done on our behalf.  
 
There are funds budgeted for Parkview Non-motorized in 2024 to complete the paving of the path. This project 
will be done locally and not through an agreement with RCKC.  

 
Information Provided 

Invoice 1074 and 1075  

1717



Customer # 0112 *** INVOICE ***

Charter Township of Oshtemo Invoice # 1074

7275 West Main Street Invoice Date 12/31/2023

Kalamazoo, MI  49009 Work Order # 900018

Invoice for:  Parkview Avenue - 11th Street to 12th Street, Non-Motorized Path

Construction Engineering & Construction - Per Details Attached 39,013.45                 

Total Invoice Amount Due 39,013.45$              

Your Local Road Professionals

Make Check Payable To:  Road Commission of Kalamazoo County

Contact: Steve Olson (269)381-3170, Ext. 202, solson@kalamazoocountyroads.com
1818



WO # 900018
Oshtemo Township

Parkview Avenue - 11th Street to 12th Street, Non-Motorized

Date Description Amount

4/30/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 1,736.91                     

5/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 8,872.58                     

5/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 11,178.97                   

5/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 1,548.55                     

5/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 7,518.69                     

6/30/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 3,069.07                     

8/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 7,213.12                     

9/30/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 11,854.02                   

12/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 29,511.43                   

12/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 10,595.90                   

4/30/23 MDOT Voucher # 1, 2 81,607.25                   

5/31/23 MDOT Voucher # 3, 4, 5 36,996.70                   

6/30/23 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 14,362.73                   

6/30/23 MDOT Voucher # 6, 7 60,431.30                   

7/31/23 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 10,097.74                   

7/31/23 MDOT Voucher # 8, 9 21,476.80                   

8/31/23 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 6,259.20                     

8/31/23 MDOT Voucher # 10, 11 67,833.20                   

9/30/23 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 9,388.22                     

9/30/23 MDOT Voucher # 12, 13 54,507.00                   

11/30/23 MDOT Voucher # 15, 16 14,291.00                   

12/31/23 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 297.83                        

Subtotal 470,648.21                

Overhead 46,395.47                   

Total Expenses - LTD 517,043.68                

3/23/22 Invoice # 943 (52,088.74)                 

1/31/23 Invoice # 1010 (48,383.97)                 

3/31/23 Invoice # 1014 (377,557.52)               

Current Balance Due 39,013.45                   

1919



Customer # 0112 *** INVOICE ***

Charter Township of Oshtemo Invoice # 1075

7275 West Main Street Invoice Date 12/31/2023

Kalamazoo, MI  49009 Work Order # 900019

Invoice for:  Parkview Avenue - Sewer Project

Construction Engineering & Construction - Per Details Attached 62,996.79                 

Total Invoice Amount Due 62,996.79$              

Your Local Road Professionals

Make Check Payable To:  Road Commission of Kalamazoo County

Contact: Steve Olson (269)381-3170, Ext. 202, solson@kalamazoocountyroads.com
2020



WO # 900019
Oshtemo Township

Parkview Avenue - Sewer Project

Date Description Amount

4/30/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 3,670.18              

5/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 7,120.05              

6/30/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 1,874.77              

8/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 2,815.19              

9/30/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 2,832.12              

10/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 2,549.94              

12/31/22 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 1,424.33              

4/30/23 MDOT Voucher # 1, 2 180,853.75         

Hubbell, Roth & Clark 708.25                 

5/31/23 MDOT Voucher # 3, 4, 5 109,081.25         

6/30/23 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 18,510.52           

6/30/23 MDOT Voucher # 6, 7 75,707.50           

7/31/23 Hubbell, Roth & Clark 14,329.48           

8/31/23 MDOT Voucher # 10, 11 3,952.00              

9/30/23 MDOT Voucher # 12, 13 11,752.50           

11/30/23 MDOT Voucher # 15, 16 22,576.00           

Subtotal 459,757.83         

Overhead 44,225.73           

Total Expenses - LTD 503,983.56         

1/31/22 Invoice # 942 (22,334.42)          

3/31/23 Invoice # 1015 (418,652.35)        

Current Balance Due 62,996.79           

2121



Memorandum & Request 

Date: 

To: 

From: 

  Subject: 

6 March 2024 

Township Board 

Cheri Bell, Supervisor 

Budget Amendment for Fruitbelt Trail Re-Survey  

Objectives 

MOTION: Board consideration to approve budget amendment for payment of Fruitbelt Trail resurvey revised

invoice from Prein & Newhof. 

From:  GL 101-000-40000   General Fund Carryover       Amount: $3,724.00
To:      GL 107-756-80800    Parks Facility Consulting     Amount: $3,724.00

Background 

A survey of the Fruitbelt Trail was conducted to determine the boundaries between private properties, which Prein & 

Newhof provided as well as a set of drawings. Legal descriptions were prepared for each parcel based on these 

boundaries.  

In the summer of 2023, residents whose backyard abuts the determined Fruitbelt Trail boundaries were disputed and 

a meeting was held between the residents’ attorney who provided the residents’ private property survey, and 

Oshtemo Charter Township Attorney, James Porter. 

The Surveyor, Christopher Kersten provided a timeline of the entire project with the resurvey portion starting at the 

June 2023 timeline. Both Mr. Tom Wheat and Christopher Kersten communicated they do not see this issue as a 

mistake, they understand how it could be perceived this way. Mr. Wheat communicated in an effort to resolve the 

issue, and in light of our good relationship with the Township, we propose to reduce the $7,448 bill by ½,  so $3,724. 

Additionally, Mr. Wheat and Mr. Kersten have offered and noted they are available to attend a Board meeting to 

discuss in more detail.  

Information Provided 

Copy of Email exchanges of Surveyor’s summary from Prein & Newhof. 

Core Values 

Public Service, Fiscal Stewardship 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

2222



[E-mail to Tom Wheat re: Resurvey of Fruit Belt Trail.] 

Please find the summary below of the series of events that have occurred at the Fruitbelt Trail 
properties: 
  
2021-2022 – Prein&Newhof was contracted to locate and stake the boundary limits of the parcels 
involved in the Township’s purchase of the former railroad/AT&T corridor located in the Southern 
region of the Township.  Field work was performed to correlate any provided legal descriptions and title 
work with the physical field monumentation, apparent physical features and survey records available to 
this office at the time of the fieldwork.  The boundaries determined from these forms of evidence were 
marked in the field and compiled into a drawing set.  Metes and bounds legal descriptions were 
prepared for each parcel based on these surveyed boundaries.  Drawings were provided to Karen High. 
  
January 2023 – Drawing sets were requested again and supplied to Karen High.  Near the end of January, 
the Western portion of the trail was walked by the township and shortly thereafter, we were asked to 
provide costs to re-stake the lines for the township to follow behind and mark with their staff. 
February 2023 – In an effort to reduce costs, we provided an estimate to provide the Township with 
coordinates of the corners and points along the lines for the Township to use to find the corners 
themselves. 
  
April 2023 – The Township visited the sites and marked the corners with orange stakes.  The Township 
removed 15 “no trespassing” signs during the process.  We followed up with Karen and Consumers 
Energy with copies of the existing drawings. 
  
June 2023 – We were contacted by the Township regarding the portion of the survey South of the Frie & 
Gibbs Plat and West of 6h Street.  A landowner had reported that the survey stakes in place were in 
error and their “no trespassing” signs had been removed.  They then provided to the Township their 
own private property survey through their attorney. 
  
July 2023 – We had a video conference with Jim Porter from the Township discussing the issue of the 
boundary dispute.  He provided us with a verbal go-ahead to provide the necessary surveying services to 
determine the validity of the private landowner’s survey against the survey work previously performed 
by P&N for the Township.  This private survey was not available to our office at the time we performed 
our original fieldwork.  By the end of the month, P&N crews were on site beginning additional field 
research. 
  
August & September 2023 – P&N completed our field research and determined that the private survey 
that was provided by the adjoining landowner was valid.  In this area, we had originally used the location 
of the physical feature evidence to base our survey off of.  However, after validating the private survey 
to the adjoining platted lands to the North, we concluded that the physical evidence of the former rail 
bed held less validity than the survey.  The former rail bed had hedged to the north to avoid a low area 
along its’ Southerly edge.  This in turn, when used as our only evidence in the area, guided our original 
opinion of the property lines in a more Northerly locale.  Once the discrepancy was brought to our 
attention, and a means of identifying additional field evidence was provided, our opinion changed and 
was more supportive of the new evidence.  Then, based on all of the evidence, we prepared a revised 
survey drawing set and legal description for the Township. 
  

2323



October 2023 – Final revised drawings were sent to the Township.  In October and November we sent 
invoices related to this work to the Township for payment of work that was performed at the request of 
the Township’s representing attorney.   
  
Please note that every surveyor tasked with determining boundaries does so based on evidence and 
their experience.  We performed our work with a standard of care similar to that of our peers to 
complete this project.  While it may appear to some that we made a mistake, I would argue that we 
made adjustments to account for new evidence that informed our opinion of the currently staked 
location of the boundaries in this area. 
  
Christopher A. Kersten, P.S. 
Prein&Newhof 
t. 269-372-1158 ext. 1329 
c. 269-207-4358  
f. 616-364-6955 
Website | Blog | LinkedIn  
 

2424

http://www.preinnewhof.com/
http://www.preinnewhof.com/resources/blog/
http://www.linkedin.com/company/prein&newhof-2?trk=hb_tab_compy_id_1579954


 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

 

 

Memorandum & Request 

Date: 5 March 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Vanessa Street, Parks Director  

 

  Subject:         2024 Kalamazoo Nature Center Services  
   

 
 

 

Objectives 

MOTION: Approve the following two budget amendments for services provided by Kalamazoo Nature Center.  
 

• reallocate $12,000 from Parks Capital Outlay to Parks Maintenance Services 
• transfer $1,765 from Parks Carryover to Parks Maintenance Services  

 

$12,000 From GL 107-765-94700 (Parks Capital Outlay) 

To GL  107-756-93100 (Parks Maintenance Services) 

 

$1,765  From GL 107-000-4000 (Parks Carryover) 

To GL  107-756-93100 (Parks Maintenance Services) 
 

 

Background 

Initially $16,500 was budgeted for 2024 Kalamazoo Nature Center services.  

In the late fall of 2023, Parks Director Street and Maintenace Director Fountain met with KNC staff at Drake 

Farmstead Park to discuss the following areas of concern: 

1. The condition of the prairie health, removal of woody invasives.  

2. Improving sightlines near the parking area to increase safety and patrol of sheriff deputies. 

3. Efforts towards establishing and maintaining growth potential along entrance drive to save maple tree-lined 

entrance.  

These additional priorities were added to the Work Plan for 2024.  

With the increased areas of focus at Drake Farmstead Park, the total funding needed for 2024 is $30,265.  

 

$12,000 was budgeted for a planting project along Croyden at Drake Farmstead Park in 2024, however that project was 

completed in late 2023 with 2023 funds.  

 

It is requested that the $12,000 for the Croyden planting project be reallocated to the 2024 Kalamazoo Nature Center 

services, as well as $1,765 be transferred from Parks Carryover to cover the remaining service costs.  

 

 

Core Values 

Sustainability 
     

2525



 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

 

 

Memorandum & Request 

Date: 04 March 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Jon Gibson, I.T. Director  

 

  Subject:         Information Technology Budget Amendments 
   

 
 

 

Objective 

Requesting the Board approve two budget amendments in the amount of $19,470.86 to pay Intaglio LLC. for the 

meeting room upgrades and $5,000.00 to Information Technology Supplies for the additional monitors, cables, and 

other supplies associated with completing the meeting room upgrades. 
 

 

From:  GL 101-000-40000 General Fund Carry Over 

To: GL 101-228-97000 Information Technology Capital Outlay 

 

From:  GL 101-000-40000 General Fund Carry Over 

To: GL 101-228-78000 Information Technology Supplies 

 

 

 

Proposed Motion: I would like to make a motion to approve a budget amendment in the amount of $19,470.86 from 

General Fund Carry Over to Information Technology Capital Outlay and $5,000.00 from General Fund Carry Over to 

Information Technology Computer Support. 
 

Background 

In 2023, $60,000.00 was approved to upgrade the meeting rooms A/V system.  This work was started in 2023 but was 

not completed until February 2024.  Intaglio has been paid $32,024.18 as part of their progressive payment schedule 

out of the 2023 budget.  The remainder of $19,470.86 is owed to Intaglio LLC.  In addition, there was a problem with 

the size of the displays which were originally installed.  Intaglio took those off the invoice, but we needed to purchase 

the monitors and power adapters that are currently being used.  There is also one more component that is needed to put 

the video into the Zoom correctly, and this budget amendment covers that expense.  This will bring the total project 

amount to $56,495.04. 

 

 

Core Values 

Innovation; Professionalism; Fiscal Stewardship 

 
     

2626



 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

 

 

Memorandum & Request 

Date: 28 February 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Jon Gibson, I.T. Director  

 

  Subject:         Information Technology Budget Amendment 
   

 
 

 

Objective 

Requesting the Board approve a budget amendment in the amount of $18,000 to pay Ricoh USA, Inc. for a High-Speed 

desktop Scanner and a Large Format scanner/printer. 
 

 

From:  GL 101-000-40000 General Fund Carry Over 

To: GL 101-228-97000 Information Technology Capital Outlay 

 

 

Proposed Motion: I would like to make a motion to approve a budget amendment in the amount of $18,000 from 

General Fund Carry Over to Information Technology Capital Outlay to pay Ricoh USA, Inc for a High-Speed desktop 

Scanner and a Large Format scanner/printer. 
 

Background 

On December 12, 2023, the Board approved the transfer of dollars for a records management consultant to funding the 

bolstering of equipment for doing digitization work. It was anticipated that these funds would be spent down fully in 

2023 however, the new hardware was not received until February 2024 due to delivery delays. 

 

 

Core Values 

Innovation; Professionalism; Fiscal Stewardship 

 

     

2727



Memorandum 

Date: 3/4/2023 

To: Township Board 

From: Dusty Farmer, Clerk; Cheri Bell, Supervisor;

Greg Fountain, Maintenance Director 

  Subject:         Change to Dump/Trash Days 

Background 

Dump Day in Oshtemo has been around in its current form for decades. The service is provided by the Township to 

residents so that large amounts trash can be disposed of during one of the ten scheduled days each year. This service 
costs almost $60,000 per year to provide. Typically beginning in early spring (late March or early April) and ending in 

late fall (November), residents line up as early as 8:00 am for the 9:00 am start time. The line stays steady, with many 

returning customers, until the 3:00 pm end time. The Township hired a local resident to help coordinate this service (at 

$80/day) and it ran fairly smoothly for many years.  

In early 2023, Dump Day began to have logistical issues that caused cars to queue as far as down the driveway and 

out onto M43. This gained the attention of the Sheriff’s Department and Greg Fountain and Dusty Farmer were both 
notified. Upon investigation, cars queuing onto M43 were not the only dangerous aspect of Dump Day activity. 
Maintenance Director Greg Fountain immediately implemented safety measures and determined it would take 2-3 

staff to safely manage Dump day. He also gathered metrics during this time so that we could identify which areas of 

the Township were being served by Dump Day in the current structure (see attached map).  

With the liability on Township property and the additional hours of staff time to be able to run a smooth event, we 

investigated multiple alternatives. Bulk trash pickup on the front curb ($60,000 for a single pickup), have residents 
transport their trash to the Best Way transfer facility on Miller Rd. and use vouchers to track amount of trash to be 

charged back to the Township (and we would lose metal recycling revenue at about $4000 per year), and a hybrid of 

vouchers and on-site Dump Days, and transport to Waste Not Recycling transfer facility on Nichols and Ravine with a 

similar voucher system (and be able to retain metal recycling revenue). After evaluation of all options, we present the 

following new procedure: 

Waste Not Recycling can provide the same service in either the form of vouchers or Dump Day on site at the Waste 

Not Recycling transfer station, removing both the responsibility and liability from Township staff and the activity 

away from the Township property. The best option for both Waste Not and Oshtemo is to fully implement the voucher 

system. We will provide one last Dump Day to residents on March 30, 2024, and we will hand out the first round of 

vouchers at that time. Information will be posted on all social media and the website. Residents will also receive the 
information in the April newsletter. 

Information Provided 

Dump Day User Heat Map 

Trash disposal procedure 

Draft Trash Disposal Voucher 

Core Values:  Public Service, Sustainability, Integrity, Fiscal Stewardship 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 
2828



28 27

3634
35

20 22

18 17 15

7

8
9 10

6 3

33

29

31
32

30

5 4

21
19

16

24

26

23

25

11 12

14 13

1
2

46 1
2

35

32 3331 34
3635

Kal Haven

J
R

S
R

Bo
yc

e

Beech

La Li
sa

Sk
y

Ki
ng Ch

im
e

Si
er

ra
M

ad
re

Pine
Acres

Josiane

O
Pa

rk

Q
uail Run

Te
to

n

G

O
ld

Sa
va

nn
ah

G
H

Frie

K L

Sk
yv

ie
w

M

MillCreek

5t
h

H 9t
h

10
th

8t
h

Big
RockW

ic
kf

or
d

G

7t
h

Va
n 

Ka
l

L

8th

G

7th

7t
h

G H

Wolf

Maricopa

6t
h

J

2n
d1s

t

M L

5t
h

8t
h

1s
t

3r
d

W Main

11
th

9t
h

Stadium

D
ra

ke

Michigan

H

K L

Parkview

R
av

in
e

12
th

9t
h

12th

G

Va
n 

Ka
l

N

6th

O N

Almena

6t
h

2n
d

8t
h

K L

11
th

10
th

2n
d

4t
h

Stadium

D
ra

ke

9t
h

N
 B

us

U
S

131

E I 94W I 94

N
 U

S
 1

31

S
U

S
131

Cam
pus

Round
H

ill

Harborview

Parkview

Sp
rin

g

W
inter

Slope
ElmValley

Beatrice

Stratford
Woods

Po
nd

s
Ed

ge

Bu
nk

er
hi

ll

G H

Ravine

Bo
bb

y

M
al

l

Sue
Ellen

VenturePark

K L

Au
tu

m
n

G
le

n

Bayfield

Tall
O

aks W
em

bl
ey

S
R

Au
tu

m
ns

W
ay

Maple

Hollow

Manorwood

Su
e

Ellen

Bu
ck

ha
m

W
oo

d

Co
lo

ni
al

Upper
Valley

Tall
Oaks

Oak
Highlands

J
R

AntiquaSassafras
Briarwood

Meadowview

O
ldSavannah

Western
Woods

ClubView

Lo
dg

e

G

Ascot

O
sh

te
m

o

Sweet

Briar

Lilac

Cross
Country

Je
nn

a

Deerfield

Sw
ai

nw
oo

d

Brekke

Fox
Valley

W
em

bl
ey

Po
nd

vie
w

Re
db

ud

Village W
estbury

Mickeys
Seeco

M
ap

le
 H

ill

Lexy

W
hit

ne
y

Sky Ridge

D
en

al
i

M
an

sf
ie

ld

Jane
Anns

H
aven

Jac
obs

11
th

R
id

ge

M
ill

Creek

Bria
rhi

ll

Cotsw
old

Spri
ngw

ood

Coddington

Nap
les

Willow
Bend

Elm Valley

Rose
Arbor

HarvestHill

Skylark

N

Torrington

Squires

Bu
st

er

Hath
aw

ay

El
Dorado

Fairgrove

Chilsom

Nightingale

Misty

Creek

Wyndham

Sum
m
erset

Ro
y

Kr
eb

bs

Technology

Fountain

Square

Horton

Sugarbush

6t
h

Boyce

Atlantic

Nature

Litchfield

RedO
ak

Baton
Rouge

Beckley

Hob
bit

Qu
ail

Co
ve

Oshtemo
Rest
Area

O
akharbor

Hanford

Ravine

Stadium
/

S US 131

Vi
en

na

Linden
Hurst

Breezy
Point

ArborValley

Va
n 

Ka
l

Windrift

Riedell

D
ra

ke

Re
ve

re MountRoyal

Dori
Crystal

Carver

Sp
or

ts

No
rth

fie
ld

Penny

Sk
y

Ki
ng

Chaddsford

N

Bluestone

Rosemary

Quail
Run

Michigan

Weeping
Pine

Green
Acres

Sunset

Sh
an

e

Mystic

H

Kelfrey

Sierra
Madre

Foxfire

An
do

ve
r

Pine
Acres

Jo
si

an
e

To
sc

an
a

O
Pa

rk

Andes
Oshtemo
Rest Area

St
ad

iu
m

Pa
rk

Kellison

Te
to

n

W
ila

nn

Old
Log

St
ad

iu
m

Pi
ne

s

Grand
Prairie

Callaway

Saint
James

Co
pp

er
Be

ac
h

Starlite

High
lan

d

View

Saquaro

4t
h

Fa
ra

llo
n

H
athaw

ay

Joh
n

Ross

Century

Al Sabo

La
Jessica

Bela

Country View

W
inding

W
es

th
av

en

G H

M
ain/

N US

131

Frie

Skyview

M

Mountian
Pine

S 
US

13
1/

M
ai

n
9th/ W

I 94

Wendalyn

M
ain/

S US131

Green
Meadow

Hickory Hill

5t
h

Financial

J

9t
h

10
th

8t
h

Big Rock

W I 94/
9th

2n
d

Beech

W
ic

kf
or

d

Croyden

7t
h

O N

E I 94/ 9th

L

8th 12th

Almena

G

7th

7t
h

6t
h

2n
d

Stadium

G HWolf

Maricopa

2n
d

1s
t

Kal Haven

M L

5t
h

S Bus
US 131

N Bus
US 131

8t
h

1s
t 12
th

3r
d

4t
h

E I 94

W I 94
N

 U
S 

13
1

S 
U

S 
13

1

W Main

Ü

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.50.25
Miles

Oshtemo Township
Dump Day Heat Map

Sparse

Dense

Location of Dump Day Users
Weighted by Number of Uses

Number of Unique Users 552

Average Dump Day Uses 1.28

Uses by Outside Residents 5

Uses on August 28th 196

Uses on July 29th 199

Uses on June 24th 195

Uses on May 13th 113

Total Uses 703

Apartment: 0.2%

Business: 0.4%

Condo: 2.73%

House 96.7%

Information Table

Percentage by Residence Type:

2929



Oshtemo Township 
Bulk Trash Voucher Procedure 

• The Board must authorize a budget to include bulk trash services each year.

• The Township will create and maintain monthly vouchers that can be requested by residents.

• Vouchers are available upon request and can be picked up at the front counter during 
normal business hours.

• Vouchers are good for up to 4 yards of bulk trash, once per month from March-November, 

one per household.

• The front counter receptionist will maintain a spreadsheet organized by month of names and 
addresses that have requested vouchers.

• The Township Maintenance Director will monitor the monthly charges and determine if the 
budget requires a budget amendment request.

• The transfer facility will collect vouchers and bill the Township each month..
• Limitations on which items can be dropped at the transfer facility will be determined by the 

transfer facility.

3030



Trash / Recycling 
Dropoff Voucher

This voucher is valid only 
in the month of 

SAMPLE 
and may not be combined 

with another month’s 
voucher. This Voucher is 

Not Valid unless 
Embossed with the 
Oshtemo Charter 

Township Seal

The maximum load per 
voucher is 4 yards.  For 

reference, 1 yard is about 
the same volume as a 

washing machine.

If you have more than 4 
yards of trash, you may 
choose to leave with the 

excess or dispose it for an 
additional fee.

Hours of Operation 
Mon-Fri 7am to 5pm 

Sat 8am to Noon 
Sun Closed

Facility Location
3025 Ravine Rd

Kalamazoo MI 49004

Resident must present 
photo ID, and address 

must match this voucher.

Resident Name

Resident Address

Yards Charged to Township

Date of Redemption

Voucher #

Trash / Recycling 
Dropoff Voucher

This voucher is valid only 
in the month of 

SAMPLE 
and may not be combined 

with another month’s 
voucher. This Voucher is 

Not Valid unless 
Embossed with the 
Oshtemo Charter 

Township Seal

The maximum load per 
voucher is 4 yards.  For 

reference, 1 yard is about 
the same volume as a 

washing machine.

If you have more than 4 
yards of trash, you may 
choose to leave with the 

excess or dispose it for an 
additional fee.

Hours of Operation 
Mon-Fri 7am to 5pm 

Sat 8am to Noon 
Sun Closed

Facility Location
3025 Ravine Rd

Kalamazoo MI 49004

Resident must present 
photo ID, and address 

must match this voucher.

Resident Name

Resident Address

Yards Charged to Township

Date of Redemption

Voucher #

Trash / Recycling 
Dropoff Voucher

This voucher is valid only 
in the month of 

SAMPLE 
and may not be combined 

with another month’s 
voucher. This Voucher is 

Not Valid unless 
Embossed with the 
Oshtemo Charter 

Township Seal

The maximum load per 
voucher is 4 yards.  For 

reference, 1 yard is about 
the same volume as a 

washing machine.

If you have more than 4 
yards of trash, you may 
choose to leave with the 

excess or dispose it for an 
additional fee.

Hours of Operation 
Mon-Fri 7am to 5pm 

Sat 8am to Noon 
Sun Closed

Facility Location
3025 Ravine Rd

Kalamazoo MI 49004

Resident must present 
photo ID, and address 

must match this voucher.

Resident Name

Resident Address

Yards Charged to Township

Date of Redemption

Voucher #

SAMPLE SAMPLE SAMPLE 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION

SAMPLE SAMPLE SAMPLE 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION

SAMPLE SAMPLE SAMPLE 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION

3131



The transfer station does not accept the following materials:
• Example Item 1
• Example Item 2
• Example Item 3
• Example Item 4
• Example Item 5
• Example Item 6
• Example Item 7
• Example Item 8
• Example Item 9
• Example Item 10

WasteNot Recyling reserves 
the right to refuse any load of 

material into the landfill.

If you have any issues, please 
contact the Oshtemo Charter 
Township office by phone at 

(269) 375-4260, or by email at 
oshtemo@oshtemo.org.

The transfer station does not accept the following materials:
• Example Item 1
• Example Item 2
• Example Item 3
• Example Item 4
• Example Item 5
• Example Item 6
• Example Item 7
• Example Item 8
• Example Item 9
• Example Item 10

WasteNot Recyling reserves 
the right to refuse any load of 

material into the landfill.

If you have any issues, please 
contact the Oshtemo Charter 
Township office by phone at 

(269) 375-4260, or by email at 
oshtemo@oshtemo.org.

The transfer station does not accept the following materials:
• Example Item 1
• Example Item 2
• Example Item 3
• Example Item 4
• Example Item 5
• Example Item 6
• Example Item 7
• Example Item 8
• Example Item 9
• Example Item 10

WasteNot Recyling reserves 
the right to refuse any load of 

material into the landfill.

If you have any issues, please 
contact the Oshtemo Charter 
Township office by phone at 

(269) 375-4260, or by email at 
oshtemo@oshtemo.org.

SAMPLE SAMPLE SAMPLE 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION

SAMPLE SAMPLE SAMPLE 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION

SAMPLE SAMPLE SAMPLE 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION

3232



3333



3434



3535



3636



3737



3838



3939



4040



4141



4242



Memorandum 
Date: 12 March 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Cheri Bell, Township Supervisor & Sara Feister, Human Resources Director 

Subject: Planning Director Staffing & Job Title Revision 

Objective 
Requesting Board consideration to hire Jodi Stefforia as the Planning Director effective 04/01/24, approval of the 
accompanying budget amendment for salary, taxes, & retirement, and approval of the proposed job title revision. 

From: GL 101-000-40000 Carryover  To: GL 101-701-70200 General (Salary)                  Amount: $8,000
From: GL 101-000-40000 Carryover To: GL 101-701-71500 General (Payroll Taxes)      Amount: $1,000
From: GL 101-000-40000 Carryover To: GL 101-701-72200 General (Retirement Plan)  Amount: $1,000

Proposed Motion 
“I approve the hire of Jodi Stefforia as the Planning Director effective 04/01/24, the accompanying budget amendment 
for salary, taxes, & retirement, and the job title revision.” 

Additional Information 
Per policy, the Board is to approve all Department Head hires. The Planning Director is a Department Head position, 
therefore, requires Board approval. Additionally, the accompanying budget amendment is necessary to increase the Planning 
Department salary, taxes, & retirement budgets to accommodate the compensation for the Planning Director. The job title 
was changed in an effort to be more descriptive of the actual duties of the position, but upon further review, it is not 
necessary to permanently change the title to Municipal Planning/Zoning Director. Planning Director is the appropriate title 
for the position. 

Information Provided

1. Planning Director Job Description Redline
2. Budget Amendment (included in memo)

Core Values 
Public Service, Sustainability, Professionalism 

4343



Effective Date: 03/12/24 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO 
POSITION DESCRIPTION 

Position Title: PLANNING DIRECTOR MUNICIPAL PLANNING/ZONING 
DIRECTOR

General Summary: 

Under the general direction of the Township Supervisor, directs the function of the Planning 
Department; coordinates and supervises Planning Department programs and projects; develops 
and administers planning documents. 

Physical Requirements: 

Physical requirements described herein are representative of those requirements which must be 
met by an employee to successfully perform the essential job functions of this job. Reasonable 
accommodations may be made upon request to enable an individual with a disability to perform 
these essential job functions. 

The employee must be able to visit properties within the Township. The ability to drive is required 
in order to view the properties being evaluated for site plan review and compliance purposes. 
During site visits to evaluate properties, the employee must be able to traverse the property, use a 
camera, take photographs, and use a tape measure or other equipment to inspect site conditions 
and improvements. 

While at the office, the employee must be able to type reports and prepare maps. The employee 
must also be able to visually review site plans and related documents. In addition, the employee 
must be able to review planning files and property tax record cards, which require the ability to 
reach files more than four (4) feet off the floor, retrieve and copy the same. 

Several days of the month, the employee must be able to work up to twelve (12) hours per day and 
attend necessary public meetings. During meetings, the employee must also be able to present 
reports publicly using a computer and a projector system. 

The ability to operate a computer, copy machine, and answer the telephone is necessary. 

The ability to communicate the planning process, reports and analyses, recommendations, not only 
to the public, but also to the Planning Commission, Zoning Board of Appeals, DDA, SoDA, and 
Township Board orally and in writing, in English, is required. 

Principal Responsibilities: 

1. Direct and supervise the operations and staff of the Planning Department, including but not
limited to establishing department goals in coordination with Township growth objectives
as reflected in the Master Land Use Plan, selecting & overseeing consultants, and
invoicing.

4444



Effective Date: 03/12/24 

2. Provide policy guidance and research information to Township Supervisor and Township
Board to assist in decision making process.

3. Coordinate the objectives and activities of the Department with the Township Board,
Planning Commission, and Zoning Board of Appeals as well as other departments, State,
County and local agencies.

4. Directs planning projects and studies involving zoning, land use, resource management,
and socio-economic analysis that work toward implementing the Master Land Use Plan.

5. Review development proposals for compliance with local policies and regulations and
accepted planning principles, including meeting with developers and property owners.
Take applicants through the review/approval process. Coordinate project approvals until
completion.

6. Advisory and technical staff support to three elected administrators, balance of Township
Board, Planning Commission, Zoning Board of Appeals, and subcommittees.

7. Coordinate Planning Department sign off on building permits and certificates of occupancy
to ensure compliance with approved conditions and Zoning Ordinance.

8. Assist citizens, developers and other agency staff with planning and land use issues.

9. Prepare and review Planning Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals agendas and staff
reports; ensure appropriate public notice is given as required by law. Provide agendas in
electronic format for web page.

10. Prepare agendas and meeting materials for Oshtemo Charter Township’s Downtown
Development Authority (DDA) & South Drake Road Corridor Improvement Authority
(SoDA).

11. Develop department budget in coordination with Township Supervisor to ensure priorities
are in line with Township objectives.

12. Represent the Township, or designate an alternate, on area committees on land use,
transportation, environment, geographic information, etc. to discuss issues, provide
assistance and gain information.

13. Participate in professional associations, seminars and conferences to keep abreast of new
concepts in the profession and land use arena.

4545



Effective Date: 03/12/24 

14. Identify areas of Zoning Ordinance that need updating or refinement. Review Ordinance
to ensure compliance with new legislation and identify areas where new provisions are
needed.

The above statements are intended to describe the general nature and level of work to be performed. 
They are not to be construed as an exhaustive list of all job duties. 

Employment Qualifications: 

DRIVERS LICENSE REQUIREMENT: Must maintain a current Michigan motor vehicle 
operator’s license without restrictions (other than corrective lenses requirement.) 

EDUCATION: Bachelor’s Degree in Planning or related field; Master’s Degree preferred. 

EXPERIENCE: Minimum five (5) years of professional planning experience, preferably 
supervisory or management level. 

Strong interpersonal communications skills, both oral and written. 

CERTIFICATION: American Institute of Certified Planners (AICP) certification desired within 
agreed upon timeframe. 

These qualifications represent guidelines; alternative qualifications may be substituted if 
sufficient to perform the duties required by this position. 

4646


	0 agenda
	0 Publ_Cmmt_Zoom_Values
	0 Public Comment Policy_Back of Agenda
	0  Zoom and Log in Information
	4 Core Values and Vision

	7.b. Budget Amendment Memos
	7.b.i. Whitegate_W Mich_11th St Sidewalk Construction
	7bi 1 mem 2024-03-12 [Board] Whitegate Ln Sidewalk Project BA
	7bi 2 2024.01.18 Preliminary Estimate
	7bi 3 Proposals - Sidewalk C - CA
	Section I – Project Goals
	Section II – Scope of Services
	Section III - Fees
	Section IV – Terms and Conditions


	7.b.ii. 9th Street Sidewalk Design
	7bii 1 mem 2024-03-07 [Board] 2024 9th St. NM Design BA
	7bii 2 Local Sidewalk Projects A Schedule
	7bii 3 Additional Spend

	7.b.iii. 2024-03-07 [Board] Parkview Ave
	7biii 2 INV  1074
	7biii 3 INV  1075

	7.b.iv. Fruitbelt Trail Resurvey
	PN Resurvey Invoice BA
	PN Survey and Resurvey Timeline

	7.b.v. Parks KNC Services
	7.b.vi. Meeting Room
	7.b.vii. Ricoh 

	8. 2024 Dump Day Changes
	9. Second Reading & Ord - MU District
	10. Memo to Board Regarding Planning Director Staffing
	Memo to Board Regarding Planning Director Staffing.pdf
	DRAFT REDLINE Planning Director.pdf




